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the entrance to Mobile Bay, Alabama, approx1mate1y 300 yards northwest of
Fort Morgan, where she sank after hitting a mine on the morning of the
Battle of Mobile Bay, August 5, 1864. The ironclad monitor, because of the
senority of her commander, Captaln T.A. Craven, was assigned by Admiral
David Farragut, who was aboard his flagship Hartford, to lead the Union
fleet into battle.

Thirty ships were in Farragut's flotilla including four ironclads; the
single turret Tecumseh, her sistership Manhattan, and two double turreted

river monitors, Chlckasaw and Winnabago. They were to lead 14 selected
ships to force a passage into the Bay past Fort Morgan guarding the entrance.

Shortly after daybreak on the morning of August 5th, the Federal fleet
began to form a column, the wooden ships lashed together in pairs behind
the ironclads. At six o'clock the Confederate ironclad ramship Tennessee
and three small gunboats emerged from behind Fort Morgan and took positions
in front of the on-coming fleet. ' -
At six thirty, the Tecumseh fired one of her guns to test the range of the
Fort. A half hour later the guns of the Fort Morgan replied and the battle
was on. , _ .

At seven thirty, the Tecumseh was almost abreast of Fort Morgan, her course
set to pass between the beach and 'a red bouy which marked the mine-free
channel used by the Confederate blockade runners when enterlng and leaving
Mobile Bay. :

As the Tecumseh approached the bouy Captain Craven realized that by passing
inside of it, as Admlral Farragut had dlrected the ironclad would be de-

Craven realized he had no choice but to risk the mine field and engage the
Tennessee head-on. At seven thirty-three he gave the command to ''Hard
port. As the bow of the ironclad swung to the left of the red bouy a
violent underwater explosion jolted the hull of the Tecumseh and in less
than a minute rolled over to port and sank, bow first. Of the 114 crew
aboard only 21 survivied, including the'pilot and 3 line officers.

When, in 1967, Smithsonian Institution divers examined the Tecumseh, she
was found 1y1ng upside-down, completely covered with silt. A large rupture
8'-0" fore and aft and 5'-0" wide was located in the bottom of the hull,
just to starboard of the keel dlrectly beneath the turret, proved conclu—
sively the disaster was caused by a mine. In addition, several cannon
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holeg were discovered in the hull, apparently inflicted by Fort Morgan
battery as the vessel rolled over.

The monitor's sudden loss caused the Brooklvn to falter and general dis-
order followed. To restore order Admiral Farragut sent out the order
which has made him known in American history, "Damn the torpedoes! Full
speed ahead!" '

The Tecumseh was one of three identical ironclad "River and Harbor

monitors" of the Tippecanoe Class (to be historically termed Canonicus
Class) for which the U.S. Navy Department advertised on August 14, 1862.

The new class was to be longer and have more powerful engines than the
‘Passajic class, just being completed. On. September 1, the Secretary of

Navy telegraphed the firm of Charles A. Secor & Company, Jersey City,

New Jersey, that their bid of $460,000 per vessel was accepted. The

firm, also known as Secor & Company, began work immediately on the Tecumseh,
Manhattan, and Mahopac and by September 15, when the contracts were signed,
sub-contracts were let and work was well underway.

Although Secor & Company was following the printed modifications to the
Passaic Class which were issued with the bid proposal invitation, they
didn't allow for the presence of the General Inspector of Ironclads,
Alban C. Stimers, who set up an office in New YOrk and would continue to
issue further modifications and changes during the construction. His
first changes came on October 8, shortly after the keel was laid, the
frames erected and several courses of hull plates secured in place.
Stimers' new general plan and specifications added a great deal of weight,
too much, by the Secor's calculations, for the vessel to float. They
brought this to the attention of Rear Admiral Francis H. Gregory, General
Superintendent of Ironclads, who stopped all construction until Stimers
and John Ericsson, the original ironclad (Monitor) designer, could revise
the plans.

When it became apparent to the Secors that there would be continual changes
necessitating work already completed to be torn out, they appealled to the
Secretary of the Navy, -Gideon Welles, for a promise they would be reim-
bursed. Their suggestion that the Government pay for the work completed

to date and forget the contract was met by Gideon's threat to seize the
establishment and the Government would complete the vessels. Being
patriotic American businessmen they continued construction and the Tecumseh
was finally completed on March 17, 1864 and commissioned on April 19, 1864.

[
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The Secors counted some 290 “"major" changes in her construction. James
Secor later summarized the effort to build the Tecumseh as actually
building three custom made vessels but only having one when the work was
finished.

When the Tecumseh was officially accepted on March 17, 1864 the cost had
risen to $636,941.76. Her deck was 225 feet long and 43 feet 8 inches at
its extreme width. From stem to stern she measured 190 feet, the aft part

; projected 24 feet, but the forward overhang was only about 9 feet. The

; mean-load draft was 13 feet 6 inches, with a displacement of 2100 tons,

’ approximately the same as the tcher - Class destroyer of World War II.

Her two main engines were the Ericsson vibrating lever type, one screw,
and produced 640 horse power, moving one four-blade cast iron propeller,
14 feet in diameter with a 20 foot pitch. The propeller shaft was a
tapering, wrought iron tube which averaged 15 inches in diameter.

The Tecumseh's four boilers were about one-third forward in the vessel.

Two were large main boilers with six furnaces each, the other two were
small auxiliary boilers with one furnace each. All were the Martin hori-
zontal fire tube type arranged on each side of the vessel so that the two
main and the auxiliary boilers faced each other, thus sharing a common fire
room space. '

: The deck armor consisted of two layers of 3/4 inch plates laid on 7 inches

5 by 8 inches white oak planks spiked to oak beams 12 inches deep by 16

: inches wide, 24 inches apart which provided transverse strength in the hull.
The side armor consisted of five layers of 1 inch plates.

on the deck's surface were three short vents, three flag staffs, two life
boats, carried on two sets of crane-like davits, aft of the turret an.
armored ventilator pipe, an armored smoke pipe, and a single rotating
turret topped with the ship's pilot house.

The vital turret was 9 feet high and 21 feet inside diameter holding two

15-inch Dahlgren smooth bore, muzzle loading cast iron guns. Gun ports,

which could be closed by swinging heavy forged shutters during re-loading,
were cut in the 10-inch thick armor (ten layers, 1 inch each).

The smaller pilot house sat above the turret on the central shaft but did
not rotate with the turret. Its shell was as thick as the turret with

(Over)



sighting slits 12 inches long providing visibility. The iron grating
floor contained a hatch for entrance and egress. Within the pilot house
were the ship's steering wheel, brass speaking tubes to provide contact
with the turret, berth deck and engine room. A compass was hung from a
.roof bracket inside the pilot house.

Below deck the Tecumseh's boilers were one-third forward in the vessel,
ahead of the engine room. Forward of the boilers and almost midships
were the coal bunkers with a topped off capacity of 212 tons. Forward
was the crew's berth deck which rested on cross floors above compartments
for power bins, shell rooms, store rooms and water tanks. '

The ward room and officers quarters were forward of the turret bulkhead
with the ward room centrally located and the officer's quarters lining
each side. The compartments below this deck held mess stores, general
stores and sailmakers stores.

Near the bow of the vessel a watertight bulkhead with' a sealable door
extended from the keel deck.

. The éntire ship's.metal surfaces, inside and out wére covered with 3
coats of white lead paint. :
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The U.S.S. Tecumseh could claim historical significance as the relic of a
famous naval engagement and a product of the genius of her inventor,

"John Ericsson (he also designed the original Monitor). Of greater importance

she is a specimen of the transition from sail to steam, from unprotected

wood to iron armor and from fixed broadside to revolving turret. To the

20th Century man she offers, in her present state, a rare and unique oppor-
tunity to glimpse in intimate detail the United States Navy in capsule form, ’
just as she appeared in battle trim 104 years ago. To clear the decks for
action all her gear and equipment had been packed in lockers or stored in the
compartments below the berth decks and it is expected these artifacts will

be intact and number in the thousands when the ship is raised.

'Eérly in 1967 a team of Smithsonian and Navy salvage personnel made an

initial attempt to locate the Tecumseh. The first dratting with a cable

~failed to reveal the ship because the team did not know she was lying

-

bottom up. ThQ;QSe of equipment developed .by Weston Instrument Corporation
did locate ‘the ship and confirmed the accuracy of the survey report of
Commander George P. Ryan of the U.S.S. Huron, July 10, 1877, to the .
Commanding Officer of the North Atlantic Squadron. The Report responded

to a Joint Resolution of the 44th Congress, August 15, 1876, whigh .directed
the Secretary of the Treasury to return $50, plus interest, to a party
(James Slaughter) claiming to have purchased Tecumseh in August 1873.
Further the Secretary of the Navy was directed to assume control and protec-

- tion of the monitor and to provide proper burial of the remains of persons

"carried down with her."

Late in January 1967, a Navy diver was lowered into the water and landed
on the upturned bilge, the only exposed area of her bottom, the rest of
the ship had been completely covered with sand and mud. It was this
coverage of silt which has given the ship and her contents protection
against the ravages of underwater encrustation.

In July divers examined the outside of the hull and removed samples of

‘the iron plates for analysis. Laboratory analysis indicated she had the

structural strength to permit it to be salvaged intact. Later expeditions
in the summer of 1968 entered the hull to examine the general condition of
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

the interidr. Except for removing several objects encountered in the
process, no attempt was made to remove the artifacts. Among the objects
brought to the surface were: the large brass engine room gong, (still
in working condition) several pieces of dinner ware from. the ward room,
a bronze floor ventilator, part of a pewter cruet holder and the main
anchor weighing 2000, pounds.

The salvage of Tecumseh, along with the myrlad objects within her hull,
will enrich the nation's historical treasures store by providing educa-
tion and inspiration to the general public. Conservators will have a
unique opportunity to examine the corrosion and degradation caused by
long term exposure to a polluted salt water environment.

0f the Mine monitors built in the Caponicus Class, the Tecumseh is the
only one sunk in battle and yet the only survivor. Although all were
launched by December, 1864, three, Catawba, Qneonta and Tippecanoe were
never commissioned though officially accepted from the builders. The
first two became Peruvian monitors in April 186§ and the other was (156%)
extensively rebuilt in 1872-74, with the decks raised 15 inches. In
1895-99 she was renamed the Wyandotte and served as a training vessel,.
The remaining ships of this Class weré all sold as junk, with the
Mahopagc and Manhattan (wich accompanied the Tecumseh into Mobile Bay)
being the last. They were sold off on March 3, 1902 and the transition
from wood to iron was complete.
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